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CHAPTER I
FOUNDING A FORTUNE

The story of the book—The South African Diamond Fields—
Henry Isaacs, pioneer—The Isaacs family—Barnett Isaacs
leaves for South Africa—His financial position—The waggon
journey : Capetown to the Diamond Fields—The name ‘ Barnato "
adopted—The beginning of wealth

It is now a little more than three years ago that I inter-
viewed Mr. B. I. Barnato on behalf of the South African
newspaper on whose staff I had then the honour to
serve. The interview itself was a success. I found my
subject willing to talk and to answer every question I put
to him, and when I had obtained all the information I
wanted, he said :

“You must let me see a proof.”

“No, you cannot have that,” I replied. “Your answers
will be. published exactly in your own words with such
few of my questions as are necessary to make the whole
plain. At any rate, if you want the proof you must see the
editor.”

“Very well, I will trust to you, but remember L want what
I said published and not what you may think I intended to
convey. I say to you as I say to men who try to tell my
stories, ¢ Either tell ’em as I do, or else tell ’em as your own
and nobody will care.””

I wrote the interview, some column and a half being
occupied by the actual Barnato matter, but although I had
met him many times before and had seen much of him, I

A



12 B. I. BARNATO

had never written anything about him. In an introductory
half-column I therefore gave my personal impressions of the
man himself. The next morning the whole matter appeared
and before luncheon Barnato sent for me.

“I have read the interview,” he began, ¢ what made you
begin with all that about me?™

“I promised that what you said should appear as you said
it, but I did not promise not to add anything that oecurred
to me.”

“Yes, the answers are all correct word for word ; and your
introduction, which came as a surprise, is very kind, very
kind indeed.”

He mused awhile, looking out of the window with his back
to me, and then turned sharply round.

“T wonder if any one will write as kindly of me when I am
dead.”

“If I outlive vou,” I replied, “I will write honestly what I
know and think.”

“Thats a bargain remember, shake hands on it,” and we
shook hands.

It was, I do believe, merely a joke on his part at the time,
as it eertainly was on mine; and on many later oecasions
he laughingly expressed the hope that I was keeping up to
date.

That promise lightly given, I now, with a deep sense of
responsibility, attempt to redeem.

I have not to write a biography, for my subject was above
all things else a business man, and the daily routine of a
business man is a weariness; but I do hope to produee a
memoir in which those who knew him shall find his stories
told in his own words, and from whieh those who did not
know him shall be able to gather what sort of a man the
Barney of the old Kimberley camp days and the astute financier
of Johannesburg and London City was.

It is now nearly thirty years ago that the first diamonds
were discovered in South Africa on the banks of the Vaal
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River and on the veld adjoining Colesberg Kopje, now the
very centre of the town of Kimberley, and represented by the
yawning gulf of the great open Kimberley mine. From 1869
a constant flood of men, and of women too, of all nationalities
and occupations, began to flow steadily northwards to the
Diamond Fields. There were three modes of conveyance, the
most expensive and comfortless being the post-cart taking
three passengers only; the slightly less expensive and very
little more comfortable coach, carrying sixteen inside pas-
sengers and drawn by teams numbering from eight to twenty
horses, mules, or both according to locality ; and the leisurely,
but most comfortable and safe ox-waggon. After the first
rush and during the next three years the alluvial workings
were much neglected in favour of mining the yellow surface
earths in the neighbourhood of the Colesberg Kopje, and
when this itself was found to be diamondiferous it was quickly
pegged off into claims, with the result that the Kopje* dis-
appeared and was literally rooted out, a vast hole 900 feet
deep now appearing in its place.

By 1871 there were gathered on the Diamond Fields in a
series of camps, known only by the names of the original
farms on which they were situated, some 4000 white people
with four times that number of Kafirs. Griqualand West,
the district in which the Diamond Fields are situated, is a
region of flat plains covered with thick blue grass after the
rains, but otherwise barren of all vegetation except that the
mimosa marks the courses of the beds of the torrents. There
was no building timber within hundreds of miles,veverythiug
had to be brought by the ox-waggon over 700 miles of
broken country ; happy indeed was the man who could secure
decently large packing-case wood to make a hut, and was
able to render it waterproof by ingeniously nailing on tin
linings. To possess a good strong double tent was to live in
a luxurious mansion. It was in this year that there arrived

* A Cape-Dutch word in general use throughout South Africa, signifying
.a small hill,
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on the Diamond Fields a young Hebrew who, being willing to
turn his hand to whatever offered, and having made some
reputation at Home as an amateur conjurer and entertainer,
thought an opening might be made. His given and family
names were Henry Isaacs, and thinking his chance would be
greater as a public entertainer than in any other direction, he
adopted the professional name of Barnato in addition. As
fortune willed it, Henry, or to give him the camp familiarity,
Harry Barnato, found that his efforts at publie entertaining
were too strictly amateur to suit his slender purse; and he
obtained other more remunerative employments which led in
a few months to his being engaged wholly in the occupation
of dealing in diamonds. The slang camp term indeed for
this was “ kopje wallopper,” derived from the circumstance that
in the earliest days the diamonds were obtained from a
number of kopjes or small hills in the neighbourhood of the
camp, and the dealers travelled on foot from one to the other
purchasing the finds as they were turned out at the sorting
tables. Those early days in Kimberley were rough indeed sc
far as the labour went, for the Kafirs dug out the diamondi-
ferous earth and carried it to a rough table or perhaps packing
case only, where the claim owner himself sorted it over,
picking out all the diamonds he could see. How carelessly
and hastily the sorting was done is attested to this day by
the number of men who make a living, and occasionally much
more, by débris washing—i.e., re-sorting the old waste heaps.
By the end of 1871, Harry Barnato found that there was not
only a living to be obtained on the Diamond Fields for
himself, but that there were abundant opportunities for his.
younger Dbrother, Barnett Isaacs, familiarly known as
“Barney,” and he wrote home advising that Barney should
come out at once.

The younger brother, the subject of this memoir, who was.
so soon to surpass in fame and the variety of his business the
senior and predecessor in South Africa, was the third child
and second son of a worthy and pious Hebrew, Isaac Isaacs,.
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whose ancestors had for many generations been domiciled in
London. The grandfather was a rabbi of the synagogue in
the neighbourhood, a very learned, deeply religious man of
great reputation among the Hebrews, but Isaac Isaacs found
that his bent was more towards an active life and the
cultivation of commercial relations with his fellows. He
succeeded in establishing himself in a small house and shop in
a turning out of Aldgate as a general dealer; and here he
remained until, at the solicitation of his successful children,
he retired from business, and transferred his simple habits
of life to the elaborate setting of a West End mansion.
The old house and all adjoining buildings have been swept
out of existence by recent County Council improvements,
but in that humble abode Isaac Isaacs and his wife Leah,
a relative of the late Sir George Jessel, Master of the
Rolls, reared their family of five children, three daughters
and the two boys Henry and Barnett. The business
was always fairly prosperous and the circumstances of the
family were very comfortable, far removed from the deep
poverty in which many of their co-religionists in the neigh-
bourhood exist. The children were.all educated exclusively
at the Hebrew Free School, established some seventy years
ago, in Bell Lane, Spitalfields, one of the noblest of Hebrew
institutions, which from the beginning has been an excellent
type of a voluntary elementary school, although the curriculum
is decidedly above that of the modern higher-grade Board
school. The boys were fortunate in being under Moses
Angel, the most celebrated headmaster of the school, and an
eminent contributor to educational literature. 'The late
Right Hon. W. E. Forster consulted him many times during
the framing of the School Board Bill of 1870 and the
compilation of the subsequent Education Code, and freely
acknowledged his indebtedness. On attaining the age of
fourteen years they each left school, and this sufficed as the
foundation of their after brilliant carcers, for neither was
studiously inclined, and here their book-learning ended. For
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a few years they aided their father in his business, and when
Henry left home to try his fortune in South Africa, Barney,
then eighteen years old, had already made some reputation as
a sharp, keen business man. There scemed, however, to him
to belittle chance of materially improving his fortunes in
England, and when Henry’s welcome letter arrived he at once
decided to go. The passage-money and outfit presented no
difficulty, for he was never without money of his own from
the age of fifteen or sixteen years, and at this time his
resources exceeded in ready cash one hundred pounds. Of
course this was husbanded as carefully as possible, and on
arrival at Capetown he still had in his pocket between fifty
and sixty pounds. On the eve of leaving London a few of
his old schoolfellows clubbed together and presented him with
a watch. Years after, when many times a millionaire, the
same watch, as carefully preserved as the circumstances of a
rough life allowed, accompanied him, still in good going
order.

Barnett Isaacs, together with a cousin, Barnett Hanis,
sailed for Capetown in July 1873, by the Union Steamship
Company’s Anglian, that being her maiden voyage, and after
an uneventful passage of twenty-seven days landed at Cape-
town. He was then in his twenty-first year, full of energy
and determination, as he was to the last ; and with his youthful
imagination fired by the published reports of the wealth of
the Diamond Fields, corroborated by the more guarded state-
ments in his brother Henry’s letter, he determined before
leaving London to go straight away to the Iields without
delay, and try if it was possible to secure a share of the
glittering wealth, and from this he was not to be dissuaded.
He has himself, in a story contributed to the Christmas
number of the Pelican, told how he encountered on the stoep
of the Masonic Hotel at Capetown an individual clad in
gorgeous raiment, ornamented with a profusion of large
diamonds, who asked his name and where he was going to; and
on learning that the Iields were his destination, endeavoured
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to change his resolution, saying that he had himself cleared
out all the diamonds that were there. Of course the young-
ster was a little cast down at this, but still stuck to the
determination to see for himself, especially as brother Henry
was there already. Years after he met the same stranger in
Johannesburg, and was asked how he managed to become
chairman of the De Beers Company.

“By not taking your advice,” was the reply.

The story is a pretty one, but it has gone round so many
times already that I may mention without spoiling any one’s
relish, that its author classed it among his many successful
works of fiction.

At Capetown there was no business to cause delay, and
Barnett Isaacs wasted no time in arranging for his con-
veyance up country by a train of waggons belonging to the
Diamond Iields Transport Company. In describing this his
first South African journey he afterwards said :

It occupied nearly two months, one of the jolliest times
I have ever had. ' The accommodation consisted of permission
to walk alongside a waggon when it moved, and to sleep
under it when it stopped. I made my first acquaintance
then with mealie porridge and biltong, and have a keen relish
for both still. I had not been very well or bright for some
months before leaving England, but the waggon journey, or
rather tramp over the veld, put me right and I marched into
Dutoitspan fit for anything.”

On arrival on the Fields the name of Barnett Isaacs
disappeared for ever, for he at once adopted Harry’s profes-
sional name, and henceforth became B. I. Barnato; though
ever, to not merely his friends and relatives but to people
generally, he remained plain “ Barney.” At this time Henry
had all he could do to keep his own head above water, and
so Barney set up in business for himself in the same line, a
kopje wallopper on a very small scale. One of his earliest
partners was Louis Cohen, and for the thirteen months of

their partnership they messed and slept together in one small
B
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hut. Close and rare friends these two men remained through
all the vicissitudes of fortune, until death separated them.
Louis Cohen tells a good story how only a few years ago
Barnato said to him:

“ Lou, I will forgive vou everything we have ever differed
about, except one.”

“What is that?™

“ Why, when we slept in that hut, you used to pull our
only blanket off me every night, and I was too much -afraid
of you to ever tell you of it.”

The partners experienced very hard times together in the
first year. The winter was an exceptionally severe season
even for that altitude,and in a rough and ready mining eamp
the cost of living and the incidental expenses of business were
of necessity very high. Both partners extended their previous
acquaintance with the sustaining virtues and properties of
mealie porridge, becoming expert cooks of it in the Kafir
fashion, and exercising carefully every possible economy to
improve their financial position. At the end of the year
the elder brother found a place for Barney with himself,
and the firm of “Barnmato Brothers™ had its first small
beginning.

There is always a tendency to magnify the early struggles
and beginnings of sueccessful men, and already Barnato’s early
Kimberley history is surrounded by myths suffieient to justify
antiquity. In this particular instanee, Barnato himself is the
author of many yarns put forward for the benefit of those
who would not be content with the prosaie details of the
daily lives of two young men struggling to gain a footing
on the ladder leading to prosperity. TFrom these he always
derived much amusement, and currency was given to far
more than his own fictions, by the equanimity with which
he himself regarded any story however absurd, and never
offered either eontradietion or correetion.

“Well, why shouldn’t I?” he said. “ A man who doesn’t
care twopence about me comes with a yarn and asks if it is
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true. I say ¢Oh, I suppose so, go and ask So-and-so, he will
tell you what really occurred.” Now if I was to say there
was not a word of truth in the whole story I should not be
believed. I have had hundreds of men come to me for
details of my career. If I told them the truth they wouldn’t
believe me, if I didnt tell 'em anything at all they would
go off angry and try to write nasty things. So I let
them talk, find out what they want to hear, and then tell
it to them; and they believe it all and go away and say,
what is, perhaps, the only absolutely true thing they will
say, that I am not a bit ashamed of my origin, and never
put on side. If you do not like it, tell me what else I can
do better.”

As a matter of fact, from 1874 till 1880, the brothers in
partnership directed their whole energies to the accumulation
of money to form a war chest for their future operations.
Henry devoted himself to the diamond dealing branch of the
business, and Barney to all the growing interests of the firm
outside the office. It was practically day and night work,
such as few constitutions could stand, and killed off hundreds
of men who had escaped the camp fever and other attendant
evils. All day keenly at work in the office or among the
claims, all the evening and greater part of the night passing
from one place of resort to another, from one bar to another,
joining in every conversation and every drink, keeping
thoroughly abreast of all that was going on. Pages of
detail would fail to convey the effect of all this work and the
changing position of Barney in the camp so well as the terms
in which he was himself described. At first inquiries as to
who he was were met by the reply :

¢ Oh, that is Harry Barnato’s brother.”

A few years later the reply to the same question was :

“That is Barney Barnato; Harry Barnato, the diamond
expert, is his brother.”

The practical result of this intense application to business
was that in 1876 Barnato was enabled to buy his first claim
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in the Kimberley mine, and to start in the business of
diamond nining himself, instead of merely dealing.

The photograph reproduced on the opposite page was
taken in Kimberley in 1875, and is, I believe, the earliest
portrait of Barnato now in existence. 'The friend with him
sitting on the chair is Mr. C. Moses.
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CHAPTER II
DIAMOND DEALERS AND DIGGERS

Diamond mining— Difficulties of the deeper levels—Why Barnato
stayed—The very clever man—The Barnato Diamond Mining
Company—Stewart’s claims bought—Barnato's business reputa-
tion—Envy, hatred, malice, and all uncharitableness—Apparent
indifference to slander—When Mylchreest went Home,

It is difficult for the present generation to grasp any idea of
the picture of life presented by the Kimberley diamond
mining industry at the time of Barnato’s arrival on the Fields,
that is, nearly five and twenty years ago. In appearance, for
the first three years, the Fields resembled nothing so much as
a number of gigantic tan-yards, where the tan-pits represented
the excavated claims, and the spaces between each pit stood
for the roadways and haulageways compelled by the mining
regulations to be left. No man had any idea that the
diamondiferous earth, the yellow ground that was then alone
known, was anything more than a mere surface deposit; and
it was expected that such a system of working in the style
that the alluvial gold regions of Australia and California had
rendered familiar would suffice. In due course depths of a
hundred and fifty and two hundred feet were reached, water
difficulties were encountered that were beyond the means of
individual claim-holders to cope with, and the roadways began
to cave in in such fashion that numbers of claims were left
without any means of approach or egress. At each place
where the yellow ground and consequently the diamonds were
found, it was from the first noticed that the formation was
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different from that of the surrounding country ; and that the
diamondiferous earth or deposit was in a kind of basin, with
irregular but sharply defined edges. Over and above the
pestilential ¢ camp fever,” and the disorders arising from im-
proper food, exposure, nnusual hardships, and the other
incidents of a mining camp, the difficulties that confronted
the diggers were : first, the caving in of the roadways from the
unexpected depth of the workings; second, the water and
drainage; third, the falling in of the rocky sides of the basin,
or, as it was termed, the falling in of the reef. The first of
these difficulties was beginning to be encountered when
Barnato arrived on the Fields, and was overcome in the most
natural manner by the claim-holders affected joining in part-
nerships, so that their series of claims should extend towards
the edges of the basin at each mining area. The depths of
the blocks of claims were then worked by stretching stecl-
wire hawsers from the bank to the bottom, and hauling miners
and earth alike along these. Barnato’s first purchase was
a block of four claims in 1876, bought certainly to great
advantage, and well situated for working. Then came the
water difficulty, which was met by the action of the Mining
Boards, who erected pumping gear and levied proportionate
charges upon the individunal and groups of claim-holders for
the services rendered. By this time the diamond mines of
which Kimberley, where Colesberg Kopje had once been, and
De Beers were the chief, had already each become one vast
hole, sections of whieh were worked in different interests ; and
the resounding twang of the tightly stretched wire hawsers,
constantly vibrating under the swing and pressure of their
loads, was a peculiar addition to the ordinary noises of the
camp. Then, to the dismay of almost all men, the yellow
ground gradually gave out, and revealed an under stratum of
dense blue rock, varying in hardness but apparently of great
thickness, and still limited laterally by the walls of the reef.
It was now recognised by many of the closely observant
diggers that the formation was voleanie, but examination of
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the blue for some time revealed no diamonds, and the optimists
were rapidly reduced in number. The water charges were
increasing, and under the impression that the mines had given
out, numbers of men sold, or if no purchaser was obtainable,
abandoned their claims, and eleared out with what they had
saved, afraid of losing all. Barnato held on, and moreover
bought up and acquired all the interests he could ; for he was
convinced that the diamonds were still there, if the miners
could only go deep enough. Of the reasons that led him to
this conclusion he could never give a scientific explanation,
but they were sufficient to himself. He said :

¢ The first diamonds discovered in South Africa were from
the Vaal River. Of course, they did not grow there. As
with gold, they werc merely washings from some bank or
had been brought from the surface of the land by floods.
Then at Kimberley we had the diamonds in the yellow
ground with the reef all round, in which there were no
diamonds at all. To the many men of science and geologists
who came round our claims, and wondered how the diamonds
should have been deposited in such a formation, I had
nothing to say, because it was to me evident from the first
that the diamonds were never deposited at all, but had been
forced up from below. We had in those days, so far as I
remember, and I do not forget much, only onc visitor among
all the men of science who seemed to be able to take in what
he saw, and that was Dr. Atherstone of Grahamstown, Cape
Colony, a clever doctor and a man with eyes he could use.
He declared that the Kimberley, De Beers, and other mines
were old volcanoes, which had been formed under tremendous
pressure at the bottom of a great deep sea, and that the
diamonds had crystallised out under the pressure. I did not
care for any of his theories; they were not in my line. But
I did care that he should, as a careful observer, come to the
same conclusion as I had, who knew every claim on the Fields
and every turn of the reef—that the diamonds came from
below through what was once a sort of tube in the ecarth.
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"Then, since I was certain that the diamonds came from below,
it followed that there must be more lower down; if not in
the blue, then on the other side of it. If, as Dr. Atherstone
theorised, they were only formed under pressure, then at the
lower depths, where the pressure must have been greater,
the finds should be larger, richer, and of better quality than
in the yellow ground we knew. So I determined to go on
until it broke me. And I was right; it didn’t break me.
We soon found that the blue itself was the true home of the
diamond. We found in it, as I expected, more and better
diamonds than all the yellow contained, and even now that
they are working in the Kimberley Rock Shaft at a depth of
1500 feet there is no sign of any change in the formation. I
believe that those funnel vents of the old volcanoes go on for
miles more than it is in the power of man to work. The age
of the really big diamonds, surpassing such present famous
specimens as the Koh-i-noor, has yet to come, when the new
Rock Shaft shall reach levels many times deeper than the
present.”

How far these speculations, and hopes for special results
of the mines in the future, may be realised it is impossible
yet to say. Certainly the blue ground now worked is, on
the average, much richer than the old yellow surface ground,
but there has not so far been any marked increase in the
average value of the biue per ton as the depth has in-
creased.

However, when other men, daunted by the ever-increasing
cost of mining and the apparent end of the diamondiferous
earth, were clearing out as fast as they could ; Barnato, led by
his business instinct, which never seemed to fail, and by plain
common-sense reasoning from faets he had himself observed,
stayed on and profited. He tells a good story of this time
which is not among his works of fiction :

“There was one man who, from the time I first began to
know anything of the mines, I envied. He had some of the
best placed claims in the Kimberley mine, and did splendidly
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until he got through the vellow and struck blue, the bed
rock as most believed it to be. He was a clever man and
sharp—perhaps some would call him ¢ sharper —so he obliged
a friend by finding a dumping ground in his claims for some
worthless yellow, then sold for whatever he could get—four
hundred pounds I think it was—and cleared before the expected
storm could burst on his head. But those claims were among
the first to prove that the blue was the true diamond ground,
and he could not have bought them back for forty thousand
pounds. The man is still living, and very poor after a life’s
hard work ; but, oh! he was so clever and so sharp!

“What? You suppose that I bought those claims for
the four hundred pounds? No,I am sorry to say I never had
the chance ; I knew that the blue had been reached there, and
that yellow ground had been dumped in to cover up, and I
wondered what was coming next. The acts of an able man
can be foreseen when his surroundings are known, but who
can fathom the folly of the fool ? I would have given eight
thousand pounds for those claims, and they went to a new
comer for four hundred pounds!”

Year after year, by patient, unwearying, untiring industry,
Barnato added interest to interest until, in 1881, he was
one of the largest shareholders and was able to float his
first company, “The Barnato Diamond Mining Company.”
This was the first step towards the afterwards accom-
plished amalgamation of all the mining interests in and
about Kimberley in the ome great company known as
De Beers, which, by its most capable management and
enormous resources, now has such far-reaching interests as
to control effectually the diamond output of the whole
world.

For the photograph of Barnato reproduced on the opposite
page, I am indebted to Mr. Louis Cohen, It was taken at
Kimberley in 1879 or 1880.

Barnato saw then very clearly that the day of the indi-
vidual claim-holder on the Diamond Fields had passed for
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ever, even when possessed of great resources and owning large
blocks of claims. In spite of the proved value of the blue
and the reasonable certainty of its continuance to vast
depths, the cost of mining had increased beyond all expecta-
tion; at the same time that the large output, with claim-
holders actually competing to effect sales, had so reduced the
price of diamonds as to have considerably lowered the
returns. With the ever increasing depth of the open
workings the charges for pumping were becoming more and
more onerous, and a new difficulty and source of expense had
appeared in the shape of falls of reef. KEven in 1881 some
parts of the great hole of the Kimberley mine had reached
over four hundred feet in depth, and from the width of the
excavation it was impossible to shore up the sides of the
basin effectually. This reef now began to fall in in ever-
inereasing quantities, and many a wealthy man has gone to
bed at night secure in his prosperity, only to find in the
morning that thousands of tons of reef had fallen on his
claims; and that its removal would swallow up not only his
profits but a large share of his capital before any further
remunerative work at the covered-up blue could be under-
taken. Certainly the Mining Board promptly undertook the
work of clearing the reef, but the charges were very heavy;
and it became evident that either the mine, with its bound-
less wealth, would have to be abandoned, or the system of
open working would have to be changed for the shafts, drives
and levels of ordinary underground mining. Therefore
Barnato formed his first company and brought as many
claims together in it as he could, to lessen the expenses of
working individual blocks; and to avoid the reef dangers by
substituting, as soon as possible, underground workings for
the dangerous toiling at the bottom of the great hole.
Shortly after this he had an opportunity of showing his faith
in the permanence of the mine, and in his theory of the great
central volcanic shaft containing blue. Six claims in the
very centre of the Kimberley mine were owned by a man
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named Stewart; and they were the very last claims in the
mine still owned by an individual digger, all the rest having
passed into the hands of a bewildering number of companies.
According to Barnato’s conviction of the origin of the mine,
whoever held these claims held the very key and centre, and
would control the whole. He, therefore, bought them over the
heads of every one else for no less a sum than thirty thousand
pounds a claim, a record price on the Fields, and that, too, n
face of an apparently declining industry. It was a great stroke
of business and fulfilled all his expectations, for it gave him the
virtual control of all other properties and interests in the
mine, and placed him in the position of chief negotiator
with the De Beers group for the formation of the ultimate
monopolist company. He bought for his money, however,
much more than a valuable section of a diamondiferous crater
situated directly over the great shaft of the long extinct
volcano; he bought public confidence on behalf of the
diamond mining industry, and he bought a pre-eminent and
recognised position as an able financier for himself. The
men who had left the Fields had not been slow to voice their
conviction that not only were the palmy days of South
African diamond mining over, but that it had ceased already
to be profitable, hence their departure, and that such odd
diamonds as might be hereafter found were what they had
themselves dropped in their hurried sorting. The early
" scientific visitors were not the only men who could not read
that which lay open before them; many diggers who had
worked on the Fields from the first rush ridiculed all idea of
the volcanic origin of the mines, declaring that they were
simply great hollows into which diamonds had been washed
in some not understood manner. All attempts made by
Barnato and those who saw with him to restore public
confidence in the future of the industry were violently,
unscrupulously denounced, as the efforts of men who were
deliberately lying, so that they might palm off on the
investing public that which they knew to be absolutely
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worthless. The purchase of the claims and the enormous
price actually paid for them were made widely known in every
detail, and were evidences not merely of faith but of con-
viction in the future wealth of the mine that was stronger
than all the fiery and vehement denunciations of the
disappointed ones. From the time of this purchase there
was exhibited a gradual restoration of confidence by investors
which was never afterwards withdrawn, and the reputations of
both Kimberley and Barnato were definitely made.

A little more than a year ago a bitterly hostile finaneial
press, and many other journals which for the time found
there was good copy to be had in following the lead, were
denouncing Barnato on practically the same charge as of
old—that he had sold to the public properties and interests
that were valueless ; and a suggestion was made to him by a
friend that he should once and for all deal with such
criticisms by issuing a eomplete answering statement.

“No, I will not,” he said ; “Ido my business my own way,
and make my statements when I want them made. The
time has not yet come. You forget that I have been all
through this before. I think I sce everything that the
venom of disappointed men, the malice of enemies, and the
ignorance of the rest can print about me. I tell you that
all this is nothing to what was said of me in the old Kimber-
ley days. I remember one morning then, my nephew tried
to keep one paper containing a specially venomous paragraph
from me, and I said, ¢ Show it to me, for if they say I have
murdered my father and robbed my sister, there is nothing
new in that, it has all been printed before!> Well, I lived
all that down by going straight on my way and developing
my business. Last year, if I had proposed a tunnel between
the Bank and Johannesburg, the public would have rushed
up the shares before ever pen was put on paper for details.
I haven't lived the years since those Kimberley days for
nothing. I know more now, and I still go straight on my
own way.”
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In the early eighties Barnato was wholly averse to taking
any share in politics, but he took a leading part in the local
government of the Kimberley district, as a member of the
District Council ; and in this capacity, no less than in his
dealings in the township and camp, he acquired the respect
of English and Dutch alike as a straightforward plain-
dealing but sharp man of business, who was indeed a hard
nut to crack. This well-earned reputation was of the greatest
value to him in his subsequent Transvaal dealings. During
his earliest years on the IFields he had trafficked in not
diamonds alone, but, as occasion served, in every description
of goods and farm produce. Referring to this later on, he
said :

“There is nothing this country (South Africa) produces
that I have not traded in, from diamonds and gold right
away through wool, feathers, and mealies, to garden vege-
tables. I have always found that I was as good a hand at
buying and selling as most people I came across, and my
experiences with the slimme * Dutch farmers on the Kimber-
ley market were sometimes very queer; but they soon found
that any man who tried on a game with me, or whose goods
were not up to sample, had a bad day sooner or later. When
this had been firmly fixed in their minds we became great
friends, for there is nothing a Dutchman will respect you
more for than to find that you are up to all his little cunning.
I had their vote solid in consequence when I first stood for
Kimberley in the Cape House of Assembly, and that was when
I wanted every vote I could get. So strong was the opposi-
tion that I would have stood a better chance of being
returned for any purely Dutch constituency in the colony
than there. Ah, that was a fight!”

A mining camp is scarcely the place in which all the virtues
would be expected to flourish, but the old Kimberley camp

* A Cape-Dutch word in general use in South Africa, signifying sly,
cunning, with a propensity for cheating. The nearest English equivalent
is perhaps * knavish.”
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was indeed a place where envy, hatred, malice and all un-
charitableness reigned supreme. Of all the forms of readily
negotiable wealth the diamond is the smallest and easiest to
conceal and carry about, and at Kimberley this gem was and
is found simply embedded in earth or rock, and requires only
picking out. During the operations of blasting rock, digging,
and carting the diamondiferous earth frcm the mine, the
precious stones, sometimes glittering, sometimes dull and
glassy in the rough, were frequently exposed; and it was a
great temptation to the actual miners, and to all workmen,
whether white or black, quietly to appropriate the wealth for
themselves. The first few years from the discovery of the
Tields showed clearly that without special effort no mining
would be able to be done profitably at all, for it has been °
estimated that fully fifty per cent. of the finds were stolen.
The stealing of diamonds became a special branch of industry,
to which numbers of white men and coloured devoted them-
selves; and it is but fair to acknowledge that the black man
was by far the most expert in the first operation of secreting
the finds from the earth. As there were thieves there were
necessarily receivers; and these, who bought the gems in the
first instance, and conveyed them from the country and sold
them, made huge profits. The crime was termed illicit
diamond buying, and was generally shortened into I.D.B.
To check this crime a special eourt and special police with
inquisitorial powers was established ; every diamond had to
be described and registered from the date of the find until it
left the country, every diamond dealer had to be licensed and
have his books always in order for the inspection of the police,
and for the slightest irregularity the punishments were, and
still are, ferocious in their severity. The Diamond Trade Act
did not kill LD.B. but made it very risky to follow, pro-
fessionally or casnally.

When Barnato reached the Fields, I.D.B. was rampant,
and so it continued for the next fifteen years until quite the
end of the eighties. It has been already detailed how in 1876



DIAMOND DEALERS AND DIGGERS 31

Barnato with careful and excellent judgment bought his first
four claims. They were in a very rich part of the crater,
and the finds there were phenomenal, such as to attract
universal attention. Here the envy, hatred, malice, and all
uncharitableness were made manifest; for amongst those who
had not gained wealth, and amongst those who had not been
able to keep it when gained, the whisper went round that
such continued richness was unnatural in claims. The next
step was to account for the finds, and these, rumour said, were
not legitimate; for the firm was engaged in LD.B., and
used the claims as a means whereby the illegal purchases of
stolen stones could be placed on the market and sold. Of
course no one ever stated this in so many words, or the quick
and summary processes of the criminal courts would have
been invoked by the Barnatos for the punishment of the vile
slanderers; but it was rumoured and rumoured from Kimberley
to Cape Town and thence to London. When Barnato first
contested Kimberley at the 1888 general elections for the
House of Assembly, a formal and complete answer was given
once and for all to the rumoured charge, and his opponents
protested, ¢ Oh, why auswer all that, it was only camp gossip,
and we knew there was no truth in it.” He ever carmried a
smiling front to the world. Whether good or evil was said
of him, he appeared always the same pleasant-spoken,
laughing Barney, ready for chaff and a drink with any one;
nor is it probable that at that time he ever admitted the
vicious innuendoes hurt him. But after the struggle of those
early times was over, when even years had passed since
his justification, he did once at any rate acknowledge how
sorely he was wounded.

“How many times in the years from *76 till '88 I have felt
inclined, almost determined, to quit Kimberley and South
Africa for ever. I was making a pile and gathering power;
but I had enough to live on, and should have been free from
those never-ceasing rumours because of my good fortune.
No one knew, or ever can know, how hard I worked for it all.
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If I have made millions I have worked for them as few men
ever can have worked. But how I have been blackguarded
by men who could neither gain nor work! Men do not often
tell all the truth when they are going Home in triumph and
the champagne has been flowing freely at farewell banquets,
but no truer words have ever been spoken than when Joe
Mylchreest cleared with his pile in 1888. He said: ¢ Though
times have changed, and now the sun is shining for me, yet 1
cannot but recall the cruel days, when from a certain clique of
my fellow citizens every form of slander and insinuation was
heaped upon me. They compassed me round about and laid
snares for me. Men of the Diamond Fields, you can never
know the bitterness they caused me. And why? Because,
as my friend C. J. Rhodes stated the other day, I had, by
energy, integrity, and perseverance, done better than my
neighbours and paid my way. I was successful and becoming
rieh, and so they eried, ¢“Down with him!™’

“There,” said Barnato, folding up again the paper from
which he had read the extract, “that exaetly expresses my
own feelings at that time and for years before. I keep that
paper carefully, and look at it now and then. I had more
abuse than ever Mylchreest had, and for a longer time, but I
never showed that I felt it; and I determined never to give
in, but to face it out. I knew that if I only stayed long
enough I should get justice. So I stayed and faced it out,
and fought that Kimberley clection as no election has ever
been fought in South Africa before, and came in at the head
of the poll. And then no dog barked. D’ve understand ?
D’ye follow me ?”



CHAPTER IIT
TWO KINGS OF DIAMONDS

The pursuit of wealth—Diamond mining by companies—Amalga-
mation necessary—Barnato and Rhodes—Their different objects
—DBusiness v. Business and Imperialism—The all-night sitting—
Objections of shareholders—The Chief Justice gives judgment

THE year 1881 marked the commencement of a new and very
important era in Barnato’s career. He had left school at
fourteen years of age to assist his father in his business of a
general dealer. At twenty-one he had arrived in Kimberley
with a little over £50 to see what he could do for himself.
He pursued the business of a general dealer still, inasmuch as
he bought and sold anything he could turn over, but with
his ‘brother he concerned himself chiefly with the diamond
trade, and soon confined his attention to it. In 1876, being
then worth about £3000, he bought his first claims in the
Kimberley mine, and his purchases soon brought in a steady
income averaging £1800 a week. In 1880 he visited
England, and established the firm of Barnato Brothers as a
London firm of diamond dealers and financiers. At the end
of the year he returned to Kimberley and floated his claims
in the Kimberley mine into his first company, under the title
of the “ Barnato Diamond Mining Company,” for £115,000.
Hitherto he had dealt in diamonds; henceforth he was, so
far as his Kimberley career was concerned, to deal also in the
claims whence the diamonds were derived. Of this Barnato
Company it need only now be said that it paid regular -
dividends of 9 per cent. each thrce months, 36 per cent. per
c



34 B. I. BARNATO

annun, until it fell into financial difficulties through heavy falls
of reef ; then Barnato extricated it from its troubles by a
loan of the needed money, and the shareholders had ultimately
a very handsome return on further amalgamation. In the same
year, 1881, taking advantage of a booming market, Barnato
floated several other companies, and was most successful.
While he was thus engaged with properties in the Kimberley
mine, another man who was to loom largely in Kimberley
affairs, and who was to play his part on a far wider stage
than that, also made his first venture in company promoting
in the De Beers mine, some three miles distant; for Cecil
John Rhodes floated the first De Beers Diamond Mining
Company in the same year. De Beers mine was, like
Kimberley, the filled-up crater of a long-extinct volcano;
and Rhodes, beginning exactly as Barnato did, first bought a
few carefully selected claims, and then at the proper time, in
a rising market, floated them into a limited company. So far
as the difficulties of mining went, the one mine was an exact
counterpart of the other, and all the working difficulties and
reef dangers, which convinced Barnato that the Kimberley
mine was no longer a place for the individual claim-owner,
operated with Rhodes. DBoth men knew every foot of
ground, every trend of reef in their respective scenes of
operation; both were firmly convinced that the diamonds
came from below, and would be found richer in the greater
depths ; and each looked forward to the amalgamation ot
the companies and interests surrounding him as the only
practical means of reducing the cost and risks of mining,
I'rom 1881 the history of the one man is the history of the
other, for they were advancing on converging lines, which
were as yet so wide apart that they seemed to be parallel.
Nothing is more certain than that neither Rhodes nor
Barnato had any idea then that they would be brought into
dircct opposition. The idea was that Rhodes should achieve
the control of the Dc Beers mine, Barnato of the Kimberley
mine, and that then they should jointly, without further
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amalgamation, control the diamond output and trade. Of
the two, Rhodes was much the smaller man financially ; his
claims in the De Beers mine were much poorer and more
unfavourably placed than were Barnato’s, and the De
Beers Mining Company, which he formed, was in the
beginning a much smaller corporation than the Barnato
Diamond Mining Company. Further, while Rhodes was
mainly concerned at that time with the De Beers mine alone,
Barnato having always steadily in view his constant policy of
acquiring controlling interests in every undertaking that
recommended itself to his judgment, purchased very largely
of the shares of the De Beers Central and the Oriental
Companies. These were the two principal diamond mining
companies in the De Beers mine, having their claims most
favourably situated in the centre of the mine; while their
ground so hedged in the claims of the De Beers Mining Com-
pany that this venture had either to absorb them, or be
absorbed, before its area of speculation could be extended.
Rhodes worked for amalgamation, and he found a ready
helper in Barnato; in fact, without Barnato’s hearty agree-
ment in the principle and objects of amalgamating the
companies in the De Beers mine, Rhodes would have been
stayed at the commencement of his career. With Barnato’s
acquiescence, Rhodes amalgamated his own company, first
with the De Beers Central, then with the Oriental and,
finally, still under the name of the De Beers Mining Com-
pany, constructed a company which practically worked the
whole of the De Beers mine.

Barnato, on his part, pursued an equally active and similar
policy in the Kimberley mine, with the advantage that his own
first company’s claims were some of the richest and best placed
in the mine. He sedulously extended his interests in the
other companies in the mine, engaging in this all the resources
that his firm possessed, until he succeeded in amalgamating
with the Standard Company, bought Stewart’s claims, and
then joined forces with the Kimberley Central. There was,
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however, still remaining in the Kimberley mine, and unab-
sorbed, the French Diamond Mining Company, holding a
very important section of the mine and with its shares
largely held and controlled from Taris.

At this point the position of these two chiefs of the Kim-
berley Diamond mining industry was therefore that Rhodes
had succeeded in amalgamating the various companies in the
De Beers mine into one company, with the old title of the
De Beers Mining Company ; while Barnato had brought into
the Kimberley Central Company every claim in the Kimberley
mine except those owned by the French Company ; and even
in that he had a considerable though not a supreme interest.
They had then achieved their immediate objects, for each
man had acquired controlling interests in his own part of the
Diamond Fields. It was evident to both that the next thing
to be done was for Barnato to acquire and absorb the Irench
Company, and then they could themselves join forces in
reality, though each was to keep his own mine distinct from
the other.

Irom this time these two men saw clearly that their
courses were not even apparently parallel, but were clearly
converging to a point beyond which they must either travel
together in union or one must be left. It did not seem likely
that there would be any difficulties in the way of travelling
together ; so far their objects had been the same, and they
had been frankly and cordially in sympathy ; but when they
came together to agree upon their future course, and to
sketch the outline of the desired great company, serious differ-
ences of opinion arose.

With Barnato, be it remembered, the whole matter was
purely one of business, and with no thought beyond secu1:ing
the most certain and permanent profit possible for his share-
holders. At the Kimberley mine there were some twenty
different shafts, with a number of companies all working
on their own account with varying methods; while some
were still working in the open, and determined to con-
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tinue doing so. He saw that with the whole mine
under one management the expenses would be so reduced
that a larger profit would acerue from a much smaller
output ; therefore, that if the whole of the mines in the
Kimberley district were under the same management, the
cost of working and establishment charges would not
only be reduced to a minimum, but the output of diamonds
might be so controlled that the price could be regulated
by taking eare that the supply never exceeded the demand.
In some cases, diamonds had been sold, owing to the keen
competition between sellers previously adverted to, at as low
as 10s. a carat; whereas, under the best management in the
most favourably situated parts of the mines, the cost of
production exceeded 15s. a carat. To lessen cost and to
control price was Barnato’s sole object.

With Rhodes, on the other hand, all this was merely a
means to an end. He desired to do all that Barnato had in
view, but when this great, powerful monopolist company had
been created, he desired to use that, and a portion of its
enormous reserve wealth for the purpose of extending the
British Empire over the vast fertile districts and auriferous
lands to the north; where the conquering Matabele had dis-
possessed the unwarlike tribes, and was maintaining a savage
despotism. There had been a rush for the partitioning of
Africa. Rhodes had by his energy and personal influence
succeeded in retaining for Cape Colony the option over
Bechuanaland, as the only road to the North for any possible
expansion and extension ; and to render the future expansion
possible, he had determined that he would secure the great
wealthy monopolist company for his *jumping-off place.”
He used the phrase himself then, and it passed unnoticed ;
for to the people of the Homeland, Kimberley was merely
a town that produced diamonds, situated in what was
otherwise a poor and struggling part of the unheeded colonial
empire.

Barnato was not by any means deficient in pride of his
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British birth and citizenship. In the cosmopolitan popula-
tion of the Diamond Tields he gloried in his birthright.
Later on, in the Transvaal, he declared that under no eircum-
stances would he ever become a burgher of the Republic, or
ask for a franchise that would mean forswearing his allegiance
as a British subject and an Englishman. He could not,
however, see eye to eye with Rhodes that the business of
Kimberley should be made possibly subservient to a policy of
empire extension. He would make as much as possible out
of the amalgamation, when it came, for himself and the
shareholders in the companies who had had confidence in
him and followed his lead ; and whatever he himself made as
his own share he would devote to the extension of his
business or to any object he thought proper. Why was this
full liberty of personal action, the right to do with his own
as he chose, not sufficient for Rhodes? Why should he
insist on so drafting the trust deed of the amalgamated
company they both desired, as to enable the company’s funds
to be applied, not merely for purposes of business, but for
the furtherance of patriotic sentiment ?

If the opening up and government of territories, with all
that it entailed, came in the way of business, it could always be
arranged for and a new departure made for the purpose ; but
Barnato was clearly and definitely of opinion that it was a
bad precedent, and bad in principle, to make provision for all
this in the trust deed of a company whose first and, he
considered, sole object of existence was the production of
diamonds and the control of the diamond markets of the
world. There was no personal antagonism in this, and which
man was in the right is not for this generation, possibly not
for several generations yet to come, to say.

‘The first hostile movement in the Barnato-Rhodes war was
made by Rhodes. Barnato had proposed terms for the amal-
gamation of the French Company with the Kimberley Central
Company, which held all the rest of the Kimberley mine;
when Rhodes, after a visit to Europe, during which he en-
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listed considerable financial support, suddenly put forward a
scheme whereby the control of the French Company was to
pass to himself. Many meetings were called of the share-
holders of the Company, for the purpose of pressing the
acceptance of Rhodes’s proposal upon them ; but at all it was
made evident that Barnato, though not actually dominating the
French Company, was able to exert sufficient influence to ensure
the rejection of any scheme of which he did not approve.
Then Rhodes and Barnato each tried to increase their influ-
ence in the Company by buying all the shares that came on
the market, and in this operation the advantage proved to be
with Rhodes; for while all the shares that he commanded or
bought were retained, many of the shareholders who were
Barnato’s pledged supporters found themselves unable to resist
the temptation of the high price to which the shares rose in
consequence of the competition, and basely sold to the enemy.
Barnato, in short, found that he was being betrayed by his
own soldiers, and that he was competing with Rhodes for
shares that his own adherents had sold.

As Rhodes had commenced the war, so he commenced nego-
tiations for peace. With characteristic impetuosity he came
himself to Barnato, and representing that it was of no use for
them to continue a fight which was merely a benefit to traitors,
offered Barnato a cheque for a very large sum if he would
withdraw his objection to the proposals for acquiring control
of the French Company. Rhodes has often told the story
himself, when servile flatterers and persons ignorant of the
facts have talked and written of his easy victories over Bar-
nato. The reply to this offer was made by Barnato in these
words :

“No. If I could see that your scheme would be for the
benefit of the shareholders in the French Company, I would
never have objected to it. As a matter of fact, the Central
Company offered better terms than you do, and I cannot
accept your offer.”

“Well,” said Rhodes, “if you will withdraw your opposi-
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tion I will give you a cheque to cover all that you think you
lose by allowing my offer to pass.”

“No; that won't do. It would put me all right, but what
about the shareholders in the French Company who have con-
fided their interests to me ?”

At length, after much negotiation, a compromise was
arrived at, by which the French Company passed into the
Central, and Rhodes acquired a large interest in that Company.

The fight for supremacy thus commenced and continued.
Barnato took up a defensive position and bought up every
share and interest in the Kimberley mine that he could, so
that all power should be in the hollow of his hand. Rhodes,
with the powerful, practically inexhaustible financial support
of the historic house of the Rothschilds, assumed the offensive,
and endeavoured to buy further interests in the Kimberley
mine, so as to turn Barnato’s flank. "This was a case in
which the advantages did not rest with the defensive;
for while the whole weight of the attack was under one
control, and all the shares that Rhodes could buy were
fast held,—all the rest were presumably against him,—the
defence, though led by Barnato, had in detail again to be left
to individual shareholders, who it was conceivable might be
bought out by considerations of present profit. This proved
to be the case. Each month Barnato found the siege be-
coming more and more severe, and that the enemy was
steadily gaining ground. At last Rhodes directed his whole
force on the great company of the mine, the Kimberley
Central ; and then, when the market price of the shares
had become considerably inflated by the competition be-
tween agents of the opposing camps, Barnato found again
that some of his most trusted supporters, men pledged
to aid him in opposing Rhodes in the amalgamation of
the two mines, had considered the price offered too
tempting to resist, and had betrayed their trust by selling
shares to the enemy. At that time, too, there were
large interests, not only in the Kimberley mine, but in
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other mines in the district, held by other nationalities,
prominent amongst whom were I'rench financiers; and it
became evident that there was a desire on the part of some
to take advantage of the conflict, to obtain a control that
should dominate both Rhodes and Barnato, and possibly
oppose South African interests entirely. J. X. Merriman
had already tried his ’prentice hand at this work, so disloyal
not only to the colony in whose Legislature he sat, but to the
Homeland to which his allegiance belonged ; another enemy
might come, was perhaps already there, who was neither
*prentice nor financial charlatan. A conference of the leaders
was called. All one morning, afternoon, evening, and night,
Rhodes, Alfred Beit, Woolf Joel, and Barnato sat discussing
the terms on which the fight was to be ended; and peace
with amalgamation, and a united front against all enemies,
secured. At last, at four in the morning, a compromise was
arrived at.  Barnato.demanded that the great amalgamated
company should be under the control of life governors, of
whom he should himself be one, to guard against the adop-
tion of any unwise policy under the powers he distrusted.
This was agreed to, and then, addressing Rhodes, he said :

¢ Some people have a fancy for one thing, some for another.
You want the means to go North, if possible, and I suppose
we must give it to you.”

Rhodes at once became a large holder in Kimberley mine
shares, and Bamato acquired further large interests in
De Beers; and after these pledges of peace had been
exchanged, it only ‘remained to complete the details of
amalgamation.

At the eighth annual meeting of the “De Beers Diamond
Mining Company, Limited” (De Beers Consolidated Mines
had not then been established), held at Kimberley on
May 12, 1888, Rhodes was in the chair; and Barnato, for
the first time present as a principal shareholder, moved the
vote of thanks to the chairman and directors for past services
in the following terms :
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“Before the meeting breaks up I should like to say a few
words concerning the chairman and the directors and their
past services. I am not very bright in eulogising any one,
perhaps criticism is more in my line; but, after the various
remarks, and the cutting notes received from various journals
in England as to the position of our industry, it behoves us
to pass an extra vote of confidence in the directors, and of
thanks to Mr. Rhodes for services rendered to the De Beers
Mining Company. . . . . No person knows better than
myself the labour that My. Rhodes has had to convert me to
the De Beers Mining Company. I may say that day after
day and night after night Mr. Rhodes has been working to
get me to take De Beers shares for Centrals. 1 gave way
when I saw diamonds down to 18s. a carat, for I then saw
no alternative but to econsolidate the interests of the com-
panies, and on those terms I came in. Another condition I
made a sine gud non. I have devoted a lifetime to furthering
the interests of the diamond mining industry ; and with the
interests I hold in these mines, amounting now to nearly two
millions of money, I should be a fool indeed to allow my
interests to drift into the hands of any particular body of
men. One never knows what may happen, especially what
may happen here in Kimberley ; and if this property should
get into the hands of a London or any other syndicate, they
might knock it about as they liked. Therefore I determined
to protect my own interests by acting as a life governor. . . . .
It has, moreover, been arranged that the life governors shall
keep an interest of not less than a million of money in the
company. . . . . If ever there was a safeguard in any com-
pany, the holdings of the life governors are a guarantee to
the shareholders that their property will be carefully and
judiciously managed.”

The proposal to create life governors was subjected to very
keen criticisin, wholly on the ground of the possibly large
remuneration they would receive, although it was expressly
stipulated by Barnato that the life governors should not
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receive anything until the ordinary shareholders had been
paid a dividend of 30 per cent. Ultimately his proposal
was so far modified as regards remuneration that the life
governors were to receive nothing until the shareholders had
been paid 36 per cent. dividends ; but he carried the principle
for which he contended.

It was characteristic of Kimberley, as then constituted,
that no sooner had Barnato been induced by defections from
his own camp to make terms, than he was violently assailed
by a certain small section of the shareholders for, as they
termed it, betraying their interests. It was a small thing
then, merely a question of the terms on which the dissentients
were to be bought out; and when this had been settled
finally to every one’ satisfaction, and the amalgamation of
all interests had been completed in every detail, it was
forgotten that there had ever been a difference. I revive the
story now solely because the events of the years that have
since passed have thrown Barnato’s chief ground of objection
into relief; and the action incidentally elicited an expression of
opinion from the highest legal authority of the Cape Colony,
which showed that the wide powers of the De Beers Con-
solidated Mines were thoroughly understood there, although
no one in England cared or troubled about them.

At a special meeting of the Kimberley Central Diamond
Mining Company, Woolf Joel being in the chair, and Barnato
also present, called to confirm the scheme for amalgamation
with De Beers, a very small minority of the shareholders
objected. 'The objection was overruled by the chairman on
the ground that more than three-quarters of the shareholders
were in favour of the amalgamation, and under the trust deed
of the company a majority of not less than three-quarters of
the total voting power of the company had power to carry
through an amalgamation with any similar company. There
was no pretence of any high considerations of principle about
the opposition of the minority. They objected to the
amalgamation terms, as they had a perfect right to object,
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because they thought they were not getting enough for their
valuable property. 'They next decided to contest the ruling
of the chair, and they sought an interdict against the
amalgamation, on the ground that the De Beers Consolidated
Mines was not a “similar ” company, owing to the wide terms
of its trust deed.

The case came before the Supreme Court of the Cape
Colony on Monday, August 20, 1888, when it was contended
for the amalgamation that the De Beers Consolidated Mines
was a similar company to the Central, inasmuch as the
primary object of both companies was diamond mining. In
the course of the case J. Rose Innes, counsel for the dis-
sentient shareholders, was reading from the De Beers trust
deed the objects of the company in support of his argument
that it was not a similar company to the Central, when Mr.
Justice Smith said : “ It would be far shorter to tell us what
the company may not do.”

Mr. Innes: “They can do anything and everything, my
lord. I suppose, since the time of the East India Company,
no company has had such power as this. They are not
confined to Africa, and they are even authorised to take
steps for the good government of any territory; so that, if
they obtain a Charter in accordance with their trust deed
from the Secretary of State, they would be empowered to
annex a portion of territory in Central Africa, raise and
maintain a standing army, and undertake warlike operations.
Yet it is said that this company is formed for the same
purposes as the Central Company, which digs for diamonds
in the Kimberley mine.”

The Chief Justice, in delivering judgment, said: “The
applicants in this case seek to prevent the carrying out of
certain resolutions arrived at by a majority of the share-
holders of the Central Diamond Mining Company, at a special
meeting, convened for the purpose on August 7, 1888, with
reference to the amalgamation of that company with the
De Beers Consolidated Mines.” Having read the resolution,
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his lordship, continuing, said: “The applicants are share-
holders in the Central Company, and they now seek to
interdict the carrying out of the agreement of amalgamation,
on the ground that such agreement is wltra vires of the
powers of the company; and the question to be decided by
the Court is, what construction is to be put upon the 83rd
article of association of the Kimberley Central Diamond
Mining Company. That article provides that ¢ a full board
of directors may at any time, upon such terms as they shall
see fit, provisionally entertain proposals to amalgamate the
company with any other company, or partnership of persons
established for the same or similar purposes; and the
directors may make proposals for that purpose provisionally,
and such proposals shall, when definitely arranged, be sub-
mitted to a special general meeting, to be convened for that
purpose; and such special general meeting shall have the
power to take into consideration any such proposals, and to
conclude any final agreement or arrangement for such
transfer, amalgamation, sale, or alienation, and to authorise
the directors to carry the same into effect.’” 'The lengthy
remainder of the clause was to the effect that dissentient
shareholders could demand to be paid out the full value
of their shares, as decided by an arbitrator. The Chief
Justice, continuing, said: “Now the Attorney-General has
argued that the question as to the same or similar objects
of the two companies is of no importance, inasmuch as any
shareholder who considers himself prejudiced by the amalga-
mation has simply to raise his objections, in order to be paid
out at the rate at which his shares are valued ; but in my
opinion, as I have already pointed out, it is a matter of the
greatest importance to the shareholders that the amalgama-
tion shall be with a company established for the same, or
similar purposes. Because, if it is competent for the Central
Company to amalgamate with any company, whatever its
objects, and whatever its financial position, shareholders
might be seriously prejudiced. 'The value of the shares must
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necessarily be affected by the public credit of the company
with which it is proposed to amalgamate. It is not alleged
in the present ease that the De Beers Consolidated Mines is
not a company with the very best credit in the world; but
the Court has not to look to one single ease, but rather
to give a construction to this 83rd section, which will
be applicable to other cases of a like character. It is quite
clear that the shareholders would be grievously prejudiced
by amalgamation with any company in bad credit, and
that the value of their shares would be seriously affected
thereby. The 8lst section of the articles of associa-
tion provides that, ‘Itshall be lawful for the share-
holders, at any time, to put an end to, and to dissolve the
said company by resolution passed at a special general
meeting convened for that purpose, provided that at such
meeting such resolution shall be agreed to by three-fourths
of the votes of the entire number of registered shareholders.’
It is not, however, contended that the dissolution in the
present case was to take place under the 81st section at all.
If it had to take place under that section, every shareholder
would have seeurity that at all events he would receive such
value for his shares as would be ascertained by a public sale
of the assets of the company. But no such security exists
where only amalgamation is proposed. In my opinion, it is
quite clear that the Central Company had no right, in opposi-
tion to the wishes of any shareholder, to amalgamate with a
company that was not established for the same or similar
purposes as the Central Company. The question to be now
determined is, whether the De Beers Consolidated Mines is
such a similar company or not. I have looked into the trust
deed of the De Beers Consolidated Mines, and I amn satisfied
that it is not a company for the same or similar purposes as
the Central. It is quite true that one of the purposes for
which the De Beers Company was established is diamond
mining, but that forms an insignificant portion of the powers
which may be exercised by the company. The company can
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undertake financial arrangements for foreign Governments,
and may carry on diamond mining, coal mining, or gold
mining in any part of the world. It can carry on banking in
Africa or elsewhere, and can become a water company in this
colony or elsewhere. In point of fact, it is of public note
that an Act has been passed this session empowering the De
Beers Company to also perform the duties of a water company.
The powers of the company are as extensive as those of any
company that has ever existed. The question now is whether
any shareholder can be bound against his will to become a
partner in such a company. The terms of the agreement are
that shares in the De Beers Consolidated Mines are to be
given for shares in the Central Company ; but if the public
has no confidence in a company with such large powers the
value of the Central shares will depreciate in the market.
Under all these circumstances, I think that, however high the
reputation of the De Beers Consolidated Mines may be, if a
dissentient shareholder believes that the arrangement will be
to his prejudice, he is entitled to come to the Court for an
interdict to prevent this amalgamation from being carried
out. At the same time, this is a matter of vast importance
to all concerned, and it is not wsual to grant a perpetual
interdict upon motion supported by affidavit. An opportunity
must be given to the other parties to give evidence, if
necessary, before a perpetual interdict is granted. The Court
will now only grant an interdict as prayed for, but will order
the applicants to bring their action during next term to have
the interdict made perpetual. At the present time there is
sufficient primé facie ground to justify the Court in granting
the application with costs.”

As I have stated above, the only point of interest in this
law case of nine years ago is that the dissentient shareholders
based their objection to the amalgamation on the very
ground that Barnato had done, viz, that all these extra
powers were foreign to the business of the company; and
they gained the day, preventing the amalgamation from
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being accomplished as at first intended and arranged. It was
ultimately carried through by placing the Central Company
in liquidation, when the De Beers bought all its property
and assets.

The Lantern commemorated the great amalgamation by
the cartoon reproduced on the opposite page, Rhodes and
Barnato furnishing the heads for the Kimberley Janus, at the
door of the temple of the mining industry.

The cartoon, with two others in this memoir from the same
source, bears the signature of W. H. Schrider, a journalist
who for many years illustrated the progress of South African
affairs, and whose sudden death two years ago was a loss to
South Africa. The Lantern itself ceased to be published in,
I think, 1889, and its proprictor and editor died soon after-
wards.
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CHAPTER IV
TWO KINGS OF DIAMONDS—(continued)

Amalgamation practically completed—Barnato’s great speech—
The Financial News in testimony—A ‘¢ master of finance '

Ix the preceding chapter the amalgamation of the Kimberley
Diamond Mining Companies and the causes that led up to it,
so far as Barnato was concerned, have been very fully dealt
with. The time for the first annual meeting of the new
great company duly arrived, and the address to be then
delivered on the report of the first year’s working was
anxiously awaited, not only by shareholders both in South
Africa and England, but by the financial world. In the
unexpected absence of C. J. Rhodes, who had gone to
England, Barnato was called upon to preside, and it was
undoubtedly one of the great occasions of his life. Yet he
stayed out his first session of Parliament to the end, and then,
after a few days at Sea Point, Capetown’s seaside suburb, he
came up to Kimberley for the meeting, with only two days
for the study of the voluminous reports and statements of
accounts, and for preparation. But at the meeting he was
quite ready, and to a critical gathering, many of whom were
still a little sore at the success of the amalgamation, he
delivered the following address, speaking easily to the end
without effort and almost without notes :—

“There is not much for me to expatiate on, because the -
reports which you have just heard read give you a clear and
explicit account of the past year’s working of the Company.
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But still I think it will be necessary for me briefly to refer
to the past history, the present condition and the future
prospects of the Company, in order that you may be made
acquainted with all that has been done, with what we are
doing, and with what we propose to do. In moving the
adoption of this report I am proud to say that I am placed
in a somewhat similar position to the Treasurer-General of
the Colony, who, in placing his annual budget before Parlia-
ment a few weeks ago, had the extreme gratification of
announcing a grand surplus of £406,000. Having a larger
amount than that in the shape of a profit, I feel that my
task in presiding over vou to-day is an easy one. Our profit
on the past year amounts to £448,000, and it must be
satisfactory to the shareholders to learn that the whole of
this very large sum, with the exception of about £85,000,
was made out of the De Beers mine alone. I regret very
much the absence of Mr. Rhodes, who is unavoidably
delayed in Ingland on business connected with the Com-
pany, and as this report was only placed in my hands a
couple of days ago owing to my having been in Capetown
until quite recently, if I am not able to deal with it in the
manner it deserves, that must be my reason for claiming
your indulgence. As you will remember, the De Beers
Consolidated Mines, Limited, was established on March 13,
1888, the nominal capital then being £100,000, with
power to increase it. We then brought forward a scheme
to amalgamate with the De Beers Mining Company, and
proceedings were forthwith instituted which were carried
into effect at the mecting held jon March 81, 1888.
Arrangements were then made for raising debentures
amounting to two and a quarter millions, the purpose to
which this sum was to be devoted being the purchase of
various properties and the liquidation of debts. Previous
to the raising of this loan I think the De Beers mine had a
debt of something like half a million, and a further debt was
contracted by the purchase of the French Company. I want
you to bear in mind that this debt did not accumulate as
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the result of the working of the Company, but because of
the purchase of other properties, which purchases were con-
sidered necessary in the best interests of shareholders, and
which could not be made without increasing our capital.
We then, as many of you know, purchased for a portion of
the debt incurred a very large portion of Central shares in
the Kimberley mine. The object of that, as you are aware,
was to obtain a pledominant influence over that property, as
there was a difficulty in bringing about a unification of
interests. On August 7 a resolutlon was passed at the
meeting of the Kimberley Central Company, to amalgamate
the two mines. The resolution was passed by an over-
whelming majority, but there were legal difficulties which
threw a certain gloom over our interests at the time, and
from which it has taken us some time to recover. But I am
not going to refer at any great length to those difficulties,
e\cept to say that I think the dissentients are more than
satisfied. In consequence of the judgment of the Supreme
Court, it was necessary to liquidate the Kimberley Central
Company, and on January 29, 1889, a resolution was
carried, placing the Company in liquidation. There was, I
believe, at that meeting a majority of shares held by the
De Beers Consolidated, representing £1,660,930, in shares
at par value, and the total capital of the Central Company
was £1,779,650, thus showing there was only a very small
minority, and I am proud to say to- day that we have
satisfied that minority, and we are now in possession of the
.whole of the Kimberley mine. In the course of liquidation,
the Kimberley mine had to be tendered for, and as the
De Beers was the highest tender, it was accepted, and we
have the entire control of the Kimberley mine, the cost of
that mine to us being about £5,300,000. Ior the purchase
of those shares and other interests we borrowed the
2% millions of money. In addition to that we own a
paramount interest in the Griqualand West Company, and
since Mr. Rhodes has been in England he has obtained a
predominant interest in the Anglo-African Company; we
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have a lease of the Bultfontein Consolidated, we have pur-
chased the South African Company for £120,000. Then we
have acquired Krauss Bros.” property for £36,500, and I am
proud to say that negotiations are going on to-day with the
Bultfontein Mining Company to scttle the purchase price of
that property by arbitration. I can therefore safely predict .
that within a very short space of time the whole of Bultfon-
tein mine will belong to the De Beers Consolidated Mines,
Limited.

“ Now, as far as Dutmtspan mine is concerned, we have got
half that mine, in the shape of the Gnqualand West pro-
perty. 'The acquisition of the Anglo-African is a pure
matter of time, which Nature will place in our hands, as soon
as those gigantic and inevitable falls of reef take place, which
will force them to accept our terms. It will be a matter of
impossibility for them to pay, but to this part of the subject
I shall refer later on. Now, gentlemen, having told vou
something of the past history of the Company, I think you
will see that, everything considered, our existence, though
very short up to the present, cannot fail to be highly satis-
factory to the shareholders. Briefly summed up, we own
the De Beers and Kimberley mines and the predominating
interests in the Bultfontein and Dutoitspan mines. Now,
gentlemen, with your permission I will refer to the various
items in the report and balance- sheet which shows a profit of
£448,905 14s. 6d. In dealing with the balance-sheet it
must be remembered that thelc are certain items included in
it which are not likely to occur again. In the first instance
there is £6006 13s. 7d., the cost of the Oriental air shaft,
which has been written off; then there is another item of
£3167 19s. 8d. for the escape shaft, and £7009 2s. 9d.
for the construction of mechanical haulage and bridges.
There is also another item on commission account amounting
to L9861 10s. 2d. Another item is that for raising the
debenture loan. That might have been put on the deben-
tures, but we preferred to show it as it stands, the amount
being £121,390 10s., as well as £3000 for the transfer of
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the French Company’s claims, and £3172 14s. 11d. for the
transfer of the De Beers Company’s property to the De
Beers Consolidated Mines. Then there is £3411 15s. 7d.
for stamps, and the item of £5865 8s. 9d. expenses incurred
in getting the De Beers Water Supply Bill passed, which has
resulted in a considerable profit to the Company. Lastly,
there is £13,032 caused by the liquidation of the De Beers
Mining Company, and the total of these items amounts to
£175,915 15s. All these items have been considered as
expenditure, but they were mostly incidental to the amalga-
mation, and it is unnecessary for me to say that we shall not
incur similar liabilities in the future. There will be no
liquidation expenses, no transfers to pass, no Water Bill, and
no French Company, and I think, under all the circum-
stances, considering that we have paid all these liabilities,
and have worked the De Beers mine alone, that it is highly
gratifying to find that we have made a handsome profit of
nearly £450,000. I should not omit to mention that under
charges there is an item of £20,042 7s. 4d. interest and
discount, and there is a further item for shafts burnt
£11,753 15s. 8d., and £6940 19s. for expenses in connec-
tion with the fire, and about £10,000 which was contributed
towards the Relief Fund, all of which are duly set forth in
the financial report. And here, gentlemen, let me briefly
refer to that terrible catastrophe, by which so many poor
fellows lost their lives, and which I am sure we all remember
with the deepest regret. I feel I must pay a tribute of
respect to the brave men who worked and risked their lives
on behalf of those poor fellows who perished in the disaster.
I remember on that melancholy occasion, an occasion which
will never be effaced from my memory and from the
memories of many who lived in Kimberley at the time—I
remember seeing our respected and able manager, Mr.
Gardner Williams, a gentleman to whom no person can
attach the least blame, working night and day doing all he
possibly could for the relief of the entombed men and using
his utmost endeavours to quench the fire. That calamity
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was an act of God, or at least we must conclude so, for the
very day of the lamentable occurrence there was an accident
in No. 2 shaft, which blocked it up to some extent, and the
Gem cscape shaft gave way only a week previously. T there-
fore think that calamity was an act of God, and I hope a
similar disaster will never again be witnessed in Kimberley.
I wish, I say, to pay a tribute of respect and admiration,
not only to Mr. Williams, who worked all night, but to the
brave men who went down the mine to save their fellow-
workmen. On that dreadful night, when the shaft was
burning, these men courageously risked their lives, with the
full knowledge that millions and millions of loads of reef
were hanging over them; but they were bravely determined
to open up a shaft so that their fellow workmen might
escape from the Gem. We all remember the result of those
labours ; we do not forget that, as the outcome of such noble
efforts, out of 700 poor souls buried 500 escaped. I have
therefore no doubt that all the shareholders will join heartily
with me in making this acknowledgment of the splendid
services rendered by Mr. Williams and the workmen serving
under him on that melancholy and memorable occasion.

I have made reference to these particulars, not in order to
speak of the financial loss, but to allude in all sympathy to
the deplorable loss of life. So much for that part of the
question. You remember, gentlemen, the state the mine
was in after that calamity, and that a considerable expendi-
ture of money was necessitated thereby. It took us some-
thing like three months to get into proper working order.
Although the loss is only put down at £30,000, it must be
remembered that we lost the produce of the three months’
work, something like a quarter of a million sterling. Now,
gentlemen, I desire to call your attention to another item;
at the end of this financial year the stock of blue ground on
De Beers floors was 476,400 loads, being an increase during
the year, in spite of all the troubles we had to face, of
173,000 loads of Dblue. Since March 80 we have
increased our stock by 130,000 loads, and I may say it is
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increasing daily, so that we have 606,400 loads of blue on
the De Beers floors alone, which cannot be otherwise than
satisfactory to the shareholders. We have a further stock
of blue on the Kimberley floors, as we have now taken over
that mine, of 180,000 loads, which is also daily increasing,
making a total of 786,000 loads on the floors of Kimberley
and De Beers Mines, representing in value, after deducting
washing expenses, &c., no less a sum than £1,375,000, while
in addition we have, I believe, nearly 100,000 lumps at the
estimated value of £35,000. I think, gentlemen, taking
these facts into consideration, and ‘remembering all the
difficulties we have had to encounter during the past year,
our future is a very bright and pleasant one indeed. I may
further call your attention to a statement made by our
manager in his report, respecting the importance of accumu-
lating blue on the floors. Of course you know that by
allowing the blue to remain on the floors for some time it
becomes pulverised by a natural process. There is thus a
great saving in labour, and a saving in diamonds also, as
the Kafirs have not an opportunity of going over the ground -
and handling it. It is therefore the object of the Directors
to have as much blue accumulated on the floors as possible,
and I believe that within a year we shall have a million and
a half or two million loads laid out on the floors belonging
to the two mines. Taking the price of diamonds to be 25s.,
although at present it is 30s. per carat, that quantity at one
and a third carat to the load will give us nearly four millions
of money, which will furnish us with a substantial sinking
fund. There is a sum I have not yet referred to, and that is
in regard to the Kimberley Mine. We have only received
£85,435 on our investment in that mine, because the Central
Company was paying off its Mining Board debt and other
liabilities out of the money which otherwise would have come
to the De Beers Consolidated, who held sixteen-seventeenths
of the shares, but this is not likely to occur again. 'We have
paid off the Kimberley Mine debt to the Mining Board
amounting to £77,000, and after meeting all these liabilities
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we are in the proud position of declaring a dividend of
10 per cent.

¢ Gentlemen, having referred briefly to these items in the
report, I may now mention that we have put down more
permanent shafts. There is, I should say in passing, a sum
of £25,000 left in the hands of the Kimberley Central
Company which will accrue to the De Beers Consolidated
Mines, Limited, and another amount to which I might
allude. "The Directors, although we were making very big
profits, have always been mindful of economy, and they
thought that a good amount might be saved out of their
yearly water account. The Government came to their
assistance and passed the Water Bill, which I will show you
by returns has effected a very substantial saving. We con-
sumed in Kimberley mine for the Central Company during
the twelve months ended March 31 last 25,196,800 gallons,
at a cost of £10,646 17s. De Beers mine consumed
32,571,800 gallons, at a cost of £13,311 9s. 5d. In the
two mines, roughly speaking, we consumed 57} million
gallons of water at a cost of £24,000. The saving on that
item, the difference in the price being one shilling as com-
pared with eightpence per 100 gallons, is a sum of £8000
per annum. I think the Directors, seeing that the Govern-
ment came to their assistance in this matter, worked in the
best interests of the shareholders.

“ Having thus dealt with the past history of the Company,
I may lay before you one or two of my opinions with respect
to the future, and I hope when I have finished you will not
consider me too sanguine. As I have said, when we
borrowed this money a gloom prevailed so far as the share
market was concerned, and right over the entire trade.
Tor a certain time there was a great want of confidence.
Of course some attributed it to Mr. Rhodes’s speech, hut I
think that what he said on that occasion was, if anything,
too truthful. It was, no doubt, unpalatable to some, but
every word he said on that occasion is coming true daily.
What he said, if I remember rightly, was, ‘Give me two



TWO KINGS O DIAMONDS 59

years.” THe might have made one or two statements that
were not very complimentary to the outside mines ; yet only
fifteen months have passed, and day by day you see that the
result is furnishing substantial proof of Mr. Rhodes’s state-
ments. I remember in reading a report of Sir Henry
Barkly’s speech at the ninth annual meeting of the Anglo-
African Company, that he said the Du<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>